IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANICETO JAIMES, :

Petitioner, :

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA, : Case No. SC09-1694

Respondent. :

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

BRUCE P. TAYLOR Assistant Public Defender Fla. Bar No. 224936

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse

P.O. Box 9000-- Drawer PD Bartow, Fl. 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

Petitioner was charged with two counts of aggravated battery by "by touching or striking said person, against said person's will, or by intentionally causing bodily harm to said person, and in committing said battery did use a deadly weapon, to wit: wooden stick or club" (emphasis added). The exact language of those counts, especially in count 4, in whom the named victim was Richard Miller, is critical to the understanding of this case. That count will usually be referred to as the "Miller" count. In neither aggravated battery count was Petitioner charged with committing the offense by inflicting serious or great bodily injury. Petitioner was also charged with one count of simple battery and one count of felony battery. Prior to trial, the felony battery count was somehow dropped, and it will not be discussed further.

A jury trial was conducted. The trial consisted of a credibility contest as to the exact details of a barroom brawl. Since those details are not critical to an understanding of the issue under review, most of the testimony will not be described at all, and the remainder will be presented in extremely truncated fashion.

Richard Miller, the alleged victim in count 4 of the information, described getting involved in the fight, and said he was hit on the back of the head with a fist by Petitioner. When the fight migrated outside, he said he was hit on the head by a club, by Petitioner. The club was identified and placed into evidence without objection. He also described his injuries as including a gash that needed to be stapled at the hospital. He said he was treated and released at the hospital.

Judy Proctor, the owner of "Judy's Place" (the location of the fight) also described the fight. She said she saw Miller placed in an ambulance and taken to the hospital. She saw that Miller had a big gash on the side of his head. She indicated how long it was, and said she knew it was deep, because she was the one who cleaned it. She followed the ambulance with Miller in it to the hospital and said they stapled the wound.

Jury instructions were agreed to, as well as a verdict form. Without objection, the verdict form as to counts 1 and 4 (#3 on the form itself, the "Miller" count) each allowed the jury to find that Petitioner was guilty of aggravated battery either by causing serious bodily injury or by using a deadly weapon, even though he had not been charged with inflicting serious or great bodily injury in either of those counts. Separate boxes were provided on the verdict form for the jury to indicate which of the two theories of prosecution (use of a deadly weapon or causing serious/great bodily injury) they relied on if they found Petitioner quilty of aggravated battery. Of course, the jury was so instructed as well, although the term "great" was used in place of the word "serious" which appeared on the actual form. Petitioner was found guilty as charged as to count one and the misdemeanor count. However, as to the "Miller" count (4 in the information, and 3 on the verdict form) the jury declined to find Petitioner guilty of aggravated battery by using a deadly weapon (with which he was charged) by not checking the guilty box for that charge. Instead the jury checked the box finding him guilty of aggravated battery by causing serious bodily harm, with which he was not charged. Interestingly, the jury had asked for a clarification of the difference between "serious harm" and a "deadly weapon", but the Court declined to further clarify. Also of interest, the word "serious" on the

verdict form for the "Miller count" was underlined, apparently by the jury foreman.

Petitioner was sentenced to 25 years in prison, concurrently on each felony charge, and to 364 days incarceration concurrently as to the misdemeanor. The obvious sentencing error of imposing a 25 year sentence on a second degree felony has been ordered to be corrected by the District Court, and that sentencing error, the misdemeanor count, and felony count 1 will not be addressed further.

On appeal Petitioner argued that as to the "Miller count" he was wrongfully convicted of aggravated battery by causing great (or serious) bodily harm when he had not been charged with that offense. In an opinion dated April 29, 2009, the District Court held the error was neither preserved nor fundamental and declined to reverse the conviction. A timely motion for rehearing and for rehearing en banc, citing conflict with the Second District's own holding in Sanders v. State, 959 So. 2nd 1232 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2007) and Haley v. State, 315 So. 2nd 525 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1975), was denied on August 12, 2009. This petition followed. This Court accepted jurisdiction by order dated November 19, 2009.

ISSUE

Does Fundamental Error Occur When a Trial Court Uses

Jury Instructions and a Jury Verdict Form that Allow a Jury

to Render a Verdict of Guilty Against a Criminal Defendant

for an Uncharged Theory of Prosecution and Convicts that

Defendant of the Crime Under the Uncharged Theory of

Prosecution?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is fundamental error for a Trial Court to convict a criminal defendant of an offense with which he is not charged. It is also fundamental error for a trial court to convict a criminal defendant under an uncharged theory of prosecution, unless it can be safely assumed the jury did not rely on the uncharged theory in reaching its verdict. In the instant case, not only can it not be assumed the jury did not rely on the uncharged theory, the jury clearly and unequivocally did rely on the uncharged theory in reaching its verdict, and so stated on the verdict form.

Furthermore, evidence of the injuries sustained by Miller was presented to the jury, making any assumption the jury did not rely on the uncharged theory even more untenable.

ARGUMENT

The District Court acknowledged that error was committed as to the "Miller count" when the Trial Court instructed the jury on an uncharged theory of prosecution, used an improper verdict form, and allowed Petitioner to be convicted under the uncharged theory of prosecution.

However, the District Court also found the error was not fundamental and was not preserved. Petitioner does not dispute the fact that no effort was made by Trial Counsel to preserve this error. However, Petitioner asserts the error is fundamental and therefore requires reversal of the judgment and sentence as to the "Miller" count.

It would be helpful to review the history of the concept of fundamental error in this state, especially as it pertains to instances in which a criminal defendant appears to have been convicted of uncharged conduct. At least as long ago as Young v. State, 195 So. 569 (Fla. 1939) this Court stated it is fundamental that a defendant be acquainted with the charge he must face (emphasis added). In the instant case, Petitioner was not acquainted with the offense of committing an aggravated battery by inflicting great or serious bodily injury on Miller, since he was not charged with that offense. Yet, that is the offense of which he was convicted. In Perkins v. Mayo, 92 So. 2nd 611, 643 (Fla. 1957) it was held that one can not be

indicted for one offense and convicted or sentenced for another, even though the offenses are closely related and may be of the same general character. Again, Petitioner was charged with the admittedly similar offense of aggravated battery by using a deadly weapon, but was not convicted of that offense. He was instead convicted of aggravated battery by causing great or serious bodily injury with which he was not charged.

This Court has consistently defined "fundamental error" as one which had it not occurred, the verdict could not have been reached, Reed v. State, 837 So. 2nd 366 (Fla. 2002), citing Brown v. State, 124 So. 2nd 481 (Fla. 1960).

Obviously, since the error in the instant case consisted (at least partly) in allowing the jury to use a verdict form that specifically allowed the jury to reach a guilty verdict for conduct not charged, and also of instructing the jury as to that theory of prosecution, the verdict of guilty as to that uncharged conduct could not have been reached without that error. Under that principle, the error in the Trial Court was therefore fundamental.

Petitioner's position is supported by numerous decisions in both this Court and other District Courts that have held it was fundamental error to allow a jury to be instructed on, and to allow the defendant to be convicted of, an offense not charged: Long v. State, 92 So. 2nd 259

(Fla. 1957), O'Bryan v. State, 692 So. 2nd 291 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), Moore v. State, 496 So. 2nd 255 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), and Gaines v. State, 652 So. 2nd 458 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995).

Of course, Petitioner is aware in State v. Weaver, 957 So. 2nd 586 (Fla. 2007) this Court has fairly recently addressed the fundamental error concept as it applies to a jury being instructed on a theory of prosecution not charged. The essential holding in Weaver is that where a general verdict form is used, and the prosecution neither presents evidence of, nor makes argument on, the theory of prosecution not charged, it can be safely assumed the jury did not base its verdict on the uncharged conduct. those conditions any error in instructing the jury on an uncharged theory of prosecution is not fundamental. conditions are not present in the instant case. A specific verdict form was used, removing any question that the jury based its verdict on the uncharged conduct. Also, although undersigned counsel has not detected any argument made by the prosecution on the uncharged conduct, evidence as to the serious nature of Miller's wounds was presented to the jury from at least two witnesses. Apparently the jury was affected by that testimony because the word "serious" was underlined on the verdict form. Therefore Weaver does not dictate a holding against Petitioner in the instant case.

Indeed, it is submitted a thorough reading of Weaver supports Petitioner's position. As stated above, the crux of Weaver is the notion that (assuming the jury is otherwise correctly instructed) the jury will not return a verdict of guilty as to uncharged conduct. In order for that the assumption to be valid, this Court stated the jury could not have been exposed to evidence or argument applicable to the uncharged theory. It is also obvious this Court's ruling in Weaver was based on the fact that in that case a general verdict form was used which did not clearly indicate which theory of prosecution was relied on by the jury. The clear implication of the holding in Weaver is that if those factors are not present, the assumption the jury did not rely on the uncharged theory can not be made. As described above, the factors relied on by this Court in Weaver, especially the use of a specific verdict form, are not present in this case. Since Weaver appears to be creating a very limited set of circumstances under which a conviction of conduct not charged is not fundamental error, it is submitted that any set of circumstances not conforming with that specific set of circumstances is fundamental error. Put another way, Weaver states that the error in instructing a jury on an uncharged theory of prosecution is not fundamental if, and only if, it can be safely assumed the jury did not rely on the uncharged theory in reaching its If that assumption can not be made, the error is, as it has traditionally been, fundamental.

The Second District analyzed Weaver in its own decision of Sanders v. State, 959 So. 2nd 1232 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2007). That analysis is the same analysis advocated by Petitioner Sanders held that if the circumstances of the case revealed that it could not be safely assumed the jury did not rely on an uncharged theory of prosecution, then there was fundamental error in allowing the jury to be instructed on that uncharged theory. The circumstances in Sanders that caused that panel to be unable to assume the jury did not convict based on uncharged conduct were the evidence presented and the arguments of counsel. Although counsel for the prosecution in the trial herein did not argue the uncharged theory, there was certainly evidence to support it, since the fact that Miller was taken to the hospital, had a long and deep gash, and needed staples to close the wound, was presented. More importantly, the jury was given a very specific verdict form. That form indicated not only that the jury rejected the charged theory of committing an aggravated battery by using a deadly weapon, but also, beyond any question whatever, that they relied on the uncharged theory of committing an aggravated battery by causing serious (or great) bodily injury. Under Weaver and Sanders it can not be assumed the jury in the instant case did not rely on an uncharged theory of prosecution. error in instructing the jury on that uncharged theory, using a verdict form that included the uncharged theory, and convicting Petitioner under the uncharged theory was therefore fundamental.

A word needs to be said about the decisions cited by the District Court in support of its holding. None of those cases discuss a situation in which the defendant was convicted of a crime or theory of prosecution that was uncharged. They all address instances in which the elements of the crime charged were poorly or even inaccurately described. However, none of them resulted in convictions for uncharged conduct. Again, there is a tradition of recognizing a distinction between faulty jury instructions that do not result in conviction of an uncharged crime, and those that do have such a result, Haley v. State, 315 So. 2nd 525 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1975) and Johnson v. State, 226 So. 2nd 884 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1969). The District Court was correct in holding the issue of faulty jury instructions is not fundamental, at least in most cases. However, it becomes fundamental error when the faulty instructions and faulty verdict forms result in a conviction for conduct that was not merely poorly described to the jury, but was not part of the charging document in the first place. It is in failing to recognize that distinction that the District Court erred.

The only remaining issue is what remedy should be applied. By not checking the "deadly weapon" box, the jury acquitted Petitioner of that theory of prosecution, Priester v. State, 294 So. 2nd 421 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974). most serious offense which the language of the charging document supports as to the "Miller Count", Count 4, is a simple battery.

CONCLUSION

This Court should reverse the decision of the Second District and order that Petitioner's conviction of aggravated battery in the "Miller Count", Count 4, be reduced to a conviction of simple battery. He should be resentenced accordingly as to that count.