### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANICETO JAIMES,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC09-1694

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

### MERIT ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Chief Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief Tampa Criminal Appeals Florida Bar No. 238538

TONJA RENE VICKERS
Assistant Attorney General

Florida Bar No. 0836974 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013

Telephone: (813)287-7900 Facsimile: (813)281-5500

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts, for the purposes of this proceeding, with the following stated exceptions, clarification and/or additions, or as independently argued when same are in conflict with general or specific representations made by Petitioner:

The charges below arose out of a barroom brawl, involving the Petitioner and three of his friends (V1, R1-5). In count four of the amended information, Petitioner was charged with aggravated battery with a deadly weapon, as to victim Richard Miller. (V1, R10-11). Miller, a patron of the bar, testified he overheard sounds of a fight coming from the bar area; he and a friend went to break things up (V1, T.96-97). After Miller successfully pulled one of the individuals away from a victim, and it appeared the four assailants would be leaving, he was suddenly struck from behind (V1, T.98).

Petitioner used his fist to punch Miller in the back of his head (V1, T.98). Miller turned around and punched Petitioner, who was then led out of the bar, by one of his companions (V1, T.98). Moments later, Miller heard a disturbance outside in the parking lot and went out to see what was happening (V1, R99).<sup>2</sup> As soon as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The original information listed the Petitioner as the sole perpetrator. The amended information included charges against Petitioner's co-defendants.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Miller's girlfriend, Karen Lamb, and her daughter were asleep in his truck (V1, T.94-95,99).

Miller walked out of the door, the Petitioner swung what appeared to be a large stick or ax handle, striking him on the side of the head (V1, T.99). Miller testified that several staples were required to close a gash on the side of his head (V1, T.102).

Petitioner testified he became involved in the fray, after he saw someone strike his friend; he pulled the two men apart (V2, T.179-181). As Petitioner turned around, someone struck him in the face with a pool stick (V2, T.181). He fell to the floor and blacked out (V2, T.181). When the Petitioner came to, he did nothing, but try to get out of the bar (V2, T.184-185). Petitioner denied hitting any of the alleged victims, including Miller, with a stick or his fist (V2, T.184-185). He could remember nothing (V2, T.186). At least two witnesses testified they saw Petitioner strike Miller in the head or face with the wooden club (Proctor: V1, T112; Lamb:V1, T.126).

During the jury charge conference, the court noted:

THE COURT: Okay, I see aggravated battery, as to Michael Proctor, felony battery as to Michael Proctor, and battery as to Michael Proctor. Battery as to John Hornsby, aggravated battery as to Richard Miller, felony battery as to Richard Miller, and battery as to Richard Miller. . .

\* \* \*

(V2, T.190). Defense counsel told the court, "I don't have a problem with those instructions. That's fine." (V2, T.190).

Regarding the verdict form, the trial court observed, "Well, I don't like that verdict form that I see there on 3.12, tell you that you have too many two things under aggravated battery, serious injury, deadly weapon." (V2, T.190). After further discussions, the court stated:

THE COURT: The verdict form should not look like that.

STATE: How should it look, Your Honor?

THE COURT: It should have aggravated battery with **serious physical injury**, A. or B., with a deadly weapon. I

believe that's how it is charged.

(V2, T.192-193)(*emphasis added*). When the court asked defense counsel, "does it appear to be in order," he responded, "Yes, it does." (V2, T.195). During closing arguments, the state focused on Petitioner's use of a deadly weapon to commit an aggravated battery against Richard Miller (V2, T.200, 202-203).

The trial court instructed the jury, as follows:

THE COURT: As to Count III, which goes to Richard Miller, to prove the crime of aggravated battery the State must prove the following two elements beyond a reasonable doubt. The first element is a definition of battery. Aniceto Jaimes intentionally touched or struck Richard Miller against his will, and-or intentionally caused great bodily harm to Richard Miller. Aniceto Jaimes in committing the battery intentionally or knowingly caused great bodily harm

to Richard Miller and-or by the use of a deadly weapon. A weapon is a deadly weapon if it is used or threatened to be used in a way likely to produce death or great bodily harm.

(V2, T. 210-211)(*emphasis added*). The verdict form asked jurors to find (as to victim, Richard Miller):

- \_\_\_\_a. The defendant is guilty as charged of Aggravated Battery with \_\_\_a. Deadly weapon or \_\_\_b. Serious Bodily Harm \_\_\_b. The defendant is guilty of Felony Battery. \_\_\_c. The defendant is guilty of Battery.
- \_\_\_\_d. The defendant is not guilty.

(V1, R34-35)(*emphasis supplied*). The jury retired to deliberate at 4:44 P.M., but sent an inquiry to the court within twenty minutes (V2, T.219). The jury inquired: "Please define the difference between deadly weapon and serious bodily harm." (V1, R14).

The trial court, per agreement of the parties read the following:

THE COURT: I have previously instructed you that a weapon is a deadly weapon if it is used or threatened to be used in a way likely to produce death or great bodily harm. The statute and the instructions do not define great bodily harm. It is a definition you wish to give to great bodily harm. And with

that I'll send you back into the jury room.

(V2, T.220-221). The jury deliberated for another twenty minutes before returning guilty verdicts, including aggravated battery, by serious bodily harm, as to victim, Richard Miller (V2, T.221).

On appeal below, Petitioner alleged, the trial court committed fundamental error, by allowing him to be convicted of aggravated battery, by inflicting serious or great bodily harm, an offense for which he had not been charged.

The Second District Court of Appeal held as follows:

First, he claims that he was found guilty in count three of aggravated battery by causing great bodily harm on Mr. Miller when the information did not charge him with causing great bodily harm.

\* \*

Although we recognize that it was error to convict Mr. Jaimes of aggravated battery by causing great bodily harm on Mr. Miller when that crime was not charged in the information, we affirm because defense counsel failed to preserve the issue for review on appeal. Defense counsel made no objection to the jury instructions or verdict form, and we conclude such error is not fundamental in Mr. Jaimes's circumstances. See State v. Weaver, 957 So. 2d 586 (Fla. 2007).

Jaimes v. State, 19 So. 3d 347, 348 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009).

Petitioner timely filed his Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court, this Court subsequently accepted jurisdiction after briefing. This briefing on the merits of the case follows.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal's decision should be upheld. Under State v. Weaver, 957 So. 2d 586 (Fla. 2007), the error was not fundamental because the record shows the state, in seeking Petitioner's conviction for aggravated battery with a deadly weapon, never relied upon the alternate, uncharged theory in presenting its evidence or argument, regarding victim Richard Miller. Consequently, the Second District's opinion in Jaimes v. State, 19 So. 3d 347, 348 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009), which is in accord with Weaver, should be affirmed.

## ARGUMENT ISSUE

WHETHER THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN FINDING THAT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR DID NOT OCCUR WHEN THE TRIAL COURT, WITHOUT OBJECTION, INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON AN ALTERNATE, UNCHARGED THEORY WHICH WAS NOT IN DISPUTE OR RELIED UPON BY THE STATE?

The Second District Court of Appeal, correctly ruled that Petitioner's conviction for an offense not charged in the information did not result in fundamental error. The district court's ruling is also in conformity with this Honorable Court's holding in *State v. Weaver*, 957 So. 2d 586 (Fla. 2007).

In Weaver, the defendant was arrested and charged with battery on a law enforcement officer following an altercation at his home. The information alleged the defendant committed the battery, by intentionally touching or striking the officer. At trial, the court instructed the jury as to both forms of battery. Weaver posed no objection to the instruction. In argument to the jury, the State focused on its evidence of intentional touching, and made no argument or suggestion that either officer suffered bodily injury. The jury returned a general verdict of guilty. On appeal to the Second District, Weaver argued "that the trial court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Weaver was the only case cited by the district court in finding fundamental error did not occur in this case. Petitioner, however, suggests the district court cited and relied upon other decisions to support its holding, which he alleges are inapplicable to his case. Petitioner's Brief at pg. 13.

committed fundamental error, by instructing the jury that it could convict him of battery by causing bodily harm, or by intentional touching, when the Information alleged only an intentional touching."

The Second District began its analysis by recalling its previous decisions in Vega and Dixon<sup>4</sup>. Judge Altenbernd, writing for the district court, found Dixon and Vega, on which the court relied, were grounded in the principal that it is fundamental error to convict a defendant of a crime with which he has not been charged. In this context the court noted that "the evidence at trial [in this case] was directed solely to the 'intentional touching' form of battery." Weaver, 916 So. 2d at 897. Thus, "[i]t [was] improbable, to say the least, that the jury convicted Gregory Weaver based solely upon the alternative provided in the jury instruction without any evidence to support that alternative." Id. at 897.

While its own analysis suggested that no fundamental error occurred, the Second District, perceiving itself "constrained, by [its] precedents in *Dixon* and *Vega*," reversed Respondent's conviction for battery on a law enforcement officer. However, based on its reservations and its belief that the Criminal Appeal

This Court's Weaver cases were premised on Vega v. State, 900 So. 2d 572 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), and Dixon v. State, 823 So. 2d 792 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001).

Reform Act, and this Court's interpretation of that Act in Reed "call[ed] into question the rule of law that [was] followed in this case," the Second District certified the following question:

DOES A TRIAL COURT COMMIT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR WHEN IT INSTRUCTS A JURY REGARDING BOTH "BODILY HARM" BATTERY ON A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER AND "INTENTIONAL TOUCHING" BATTERY ON A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER WHEN THE INFORMATION CHARGED ONLY ONE FORM OF THE CRIME AND NO EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED NOR ARGUMENT MADE REGARDING THE ALTERNATE FORM?

Weaver v. State, 916 So. 2d 895, 898-899 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005). This Court answered the certified question in the negative based on its decisions in Reed v. State, 837 So. 2d 366, 370 (Fla. 2002), and State v. Delva, 5757 So. 2d 643, 644 (Fla. 1991).

As this Court reasoned in Reed, jury instructions are subject to contemporaneous objection and, absent such, can be raised on appeal only if fundamental error occurred. Reed, 837 So. 2d at 370. The facts must reflect an error that is pertinent or material to what the jury must consider in order to convict before it can be deemed fundamental. Id. Hence, "to justify not imposing the contemporaneous objection rule, 'the error must reach down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error.'[internal citations omitted]." Id. "[F]undamental error occurs only when the omission is pertinent or material to what the jury must consider in order to convict." Delva, 575 So. 2d at 644-

645 [citations omitted].

Noting that Delva, unlike Weaver, involved the erroneous omission of an undisputed element, from a jury instruction, this Court found the same reasoning was applicable when there is an, "erroneous inclusion of an element that the State does not argue is present and about which it presents no evidence." Weaver, 957 So.

2d 588-589 (emphasis added). This Court further stated:

As with the omission of an element of the offense that is not contested, this erroneous inclusion of an element that the State concedes does not apply, and concerning which it presents no evidence, is not "pertinent or material to what the jury must consider in order to convict." Delva, 575 So. 2d at 645 (quoting Stewart v. State, 420 So. 2d 862, 863 (Fla. 1982). Therefore, such an error does not "reach down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained with the assistance of the alleged error." Id. at 644-45 (quoting Brown v. State, 124 So. 2d 481, 484 (Fla. 1960).

Weaver, 957 So. 2d at 589. The Weaver court also rejected the district court's reasoning, as stated in Dixon, a conviction under such circumstances as Weaver's, that it is "impossible to know whether a defendant was convicted of the offense for which he was charged, or one in which he was not charged. Id. at 589. Accordingly, the high court found the inclusion of bodily harm in the jury instruction did not result in fundamental error, as the element itself was not at issue and not relied upon by the state. Id.

Applying the reasoning and holding of Weaver to the instant

case, the same finding is warranted. Here, Petitioner was charged with committing an aggravated battery, which may be proven under the alternate theories of use of a deadly weapon, or causing great bodily harm. The information alleged Petitioner committed the aggravated battery, upon victim Richard Miller, by using a deadly weapon. The jury, however, was instructed as to both forms of aggravated battery, which the Second District found to be error. Petitioner posed no objection, but specifically accepted the instruction.

Under Weaver, fundamental error would be found if, the record before this Court demonstrated, the state relied on the theory of great bodily harm and that theory was disputed. A review of the instant record shows, and Petitioner concedes, the state's argument focused on Petitioner's use of a large wooden club, as a deadly weapon, and not the uncharged element of great bodily harm. For example, in closing arguments, the state reminded the jury of how Miller testified the Petitioner hit him in the back of the head with a wooden stick or club (V2, T.200, 202-203). The state went on to review the aggravated battery instruction, and asked the jury to examine how Petitioner had used the stick during the attack (V2, T.200, 202-203). The state made no reference to Miller's injuries.

Petitioner maintains, without any citation to the record, some evidence of great bodily harm was presented by the state, sufficient to remove his case from the dictates of Weaver.

(Petitioner's Brief at p. 11). Although Miller, himself, told the jury he suffered a gash on his scalp, which required several staples to close, the record clearly shows the state did not rely on this evidence to argue for Petitioner's conviction for aggravated battery. Moreover, the issue of great bodily harm was not in dispute.

In Sanders v. State, 959 So. 2d 1232 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007), the court found ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for failure to argue the jury was erroneously instructed on the element of great bodily harm, where the charging document only alleged aggravated battery (on law enforcement officer) was committed by There, unlike here, Sanders was found using a deadly weapon. guilty on a general verdict, after the state not only presented evidence of the officer's injuries, but also argued in closing, such injuries were not the kind found in a misdemeanor battery Consequently, the court concluded, "it was impossible conviction. to know whether the jury convicted Sanders of the uncharged alternate theory of the offense. . . " Sanders, 959 So. 2d at 1234. The evidence and argument presented here focused on the deadly weapon form of battery. Also, the element of serious or great bodily harm was not in dispute, nor contested below. Accordingly, Sanders is hardly helpful to the position advocated by Petitioner.

Also, in the court below, Petitioner posed no objection to the verdict form, which unlike Weaver, required the jury to make

specific findings. For the first time, Petitioner asserts the use of the specific verdict form was erroneous because it listed the alternate, uncharged theory. Petitioner accepted the verdict form at trial, and made no argument regarding its use, on appeal in the district court. This issue, now argued for the first time on appeal to this Honorable Court, is not preserved for review and not properly considered upon review of the case sub judice. See generally Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982); See also, Insko v. State, 969 So. 2d 992 (Fla. 2007)(Insko could not complain jury improperly convicted him on a lesser included offense, after he failed to object to the verdict form, which listed lascivious conduct by a defendant less than eighteen years of age, as one of four choices, even though it was clear Insko was in his thirties).

After Weaver, the Third District in Jomolla v. State, 990 So. 2d 1234 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008), agreed with the defendant that the trial court had erroneously instructed the jury on both forms of battery, though he was only charged with intentionally touching or striking the victim. The court, however, went on to find the giving of the instruction did not result in fundamental error. Id. at 1238. There, as in the instant case, the state never relied on the alternate uncharged theory. Also, in line with the state's argument, the defendant admitted hitting the victim. In this case, the Petitioner's defense was that he hit no one, but was

himself a victim, having blacked out, after being struck. great contrast, the jury heard the testimony of the victims and others, who witnessed the beatings, and identified the Petitioner, as one of the attackers. The jury, had a "fair opportunity to exercise its inherent 'pardon' power." State v. Abreau, 363 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 1978). Here, the jury was instructed on both forms of aggravated battery, felony battery, and simple battery (V1, R18-25; V2, T. 208-212). The jury had an opportunity to find the Appellant not quilty of the offense, but, by its verdict, clearly rejected the Appellant's theory of defense. See, State v. Wimbley, 498 So. 2d 929 (Fla. 1986), Fernandez v. State, 570 So. 2d 1008, 1011 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) (Where this Court reasoned the jury had an opportunity to exercise its right to pardon the defendant by finding him guilty of the simple battery, a first-degree misdemeanor, one step removed from the charged offense). The ruling of the Second District Court of Appeal, which found fundamental error did not occur, should be affirmed by this Court.

#### CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court uphold the ruling of the Second District Court of Appeal and affirm Petitioner's conviction.